1957

In the Matter of the Estate of Phyllis Rosander Leigh : Brief of Appellant David K. Watkiss

Utah Supreme Court

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This appeal is from a judgment of the trial court filed on December 10, 1956 vacating and setting aside the Order appointing the administrator.

The Order was made on petition of Farmers Mutual Automobile Insurance Company, a corporation. The basis of said petition is that it has a policy of public liability insurance which requires it to defend and pay

claims against the Estate of the deceased and would be put to great cost and expense in defending the action by Rawlinkiewicz.

The grounds for voiding the Order appointing the administrator was that there were no assets of Leigh within the State of Utah.

From the order voiding the appointment of David K. Watkiss as the administrator of the Estate of Leigh this appeal has been taken.

Throughout this brief the administrator will be referred to as appellant and the objector, Farmers Mutual Automobile Insurance Company will be referred to as respondent.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Leigh died at Knolls, Tooele County, Utah on the 29th day of May, 1955. At the time of her death she was a resident of the State of Minnesota. In the collision causing the death of Leigh, Edward Rawlinkiewicz suffered serious personal injuries and damage to his automobile.

Other than the wrecked automobile Leigh had no assets within the State of Utah. On the 3rd of November, 1955 a petition was filed on behalf of Edward Rawlin-

kiewicz for the appointment of an administrator of the Estate of Leigh. The petition set forth the accident and the fact that no administrator had been appointed for Leigh and that there were assets within the State of Utah consisting of a public liability insurance policy covering the automobile that Leigh was driving.

An order fixing a time for hearing was set. No objections were filed. Notice of hearing was given by the County Clerk of Tooele County to J. B. Hagman, Jr., representative, Insurance Adjustment Company, Continental Bank Building, Salt Lake City, Utah.

On the 22nd day of December an order appointing David K. Watkiss as the administrator was signed. On the 4th of January, 1956 the petition to revoke letters of administration was filed by respondent.

The petition to revoke the letters of administration was heard before the Honorable R. L. Tuckett on the 2nd of November, 1956 and on December 10th, 1956 the order was made voiding and vacating the order appointing the administrator.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE COURT ERRED IN VOIDING AND VACATING THE ORDER APPOINTING THE ADMINISTRATOR.

A. THE PROBATE COURT HAS AUTHORITY TO APPOINT AN ADMINISTRATOR FOR THE PURPOSE OF ACQUIRING JURISDICTION OVER THE ESTATE SO THAT IT MAY BE PROPERLY ADMINISTERED.

B. THE EXERCISE OF SOUND DISCRETION ON THE PART OF THE PROBATE COURT REQUIRES THE APPOINTMENT OF AN ADMINISTRATOR OF THE ESTATE OF PHYLLIS ROSANDER LEIGH.

POINT II

RESPONDENT HAS COVENANTED TO DEFEND THE ACTION OF RAWLINKIEWICZ IN UTAH.

POINT III

THE LEGISLATIVE PURPOSE CAN ONLY BE SERVED BY PERMITTING SUIT IN UTAH ON INJURIES SUFFERED IN UTAH.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE COURT ERRED IN VOIDING AND VACATING THE ORDER APPOINTING THE ADMINISTRATOR.

The order voiding and vacating the appointment of the administrator states that the basis of the Court's action was that there are no assets of the Estate within the State of Utah.

This basic proposition was set forth in the petition of respondent to revoke the letters of administration and in addition the petition set forth that since the respondent was not authorized to do business within the State of Utah that the judgment which could be obtained against the administrator of the Estate of Leigh by Rawlinkiewicz would be ineffectual for any purpose. The petition also pointed out that Rawlinkiewicz was seeking as the creditor of the Estate of Leigh to have an administrator appointed so that there would be within the State of Utah a person who could be sued and that only where the respondent was authorized to do business could there be any effectual means of collection instituted and a judgment obtained against it.

The petition points out that the respondent would be put to great cost in order to defend the action instituted by Rawlinkiewicz. It apparently being the theory of respondent that the insurance company should not be required to defend an action against their insured in any state except where they are authorized to do business.

The action commenced by Rawlinkiewicz against the administrator of the Estate of Leigh was brought under the provisions of Section 78-11-12 Utah Code Annotated, 1953 which reads as follows:

“78-11-12. INJURY TO PERSON OR DEATH—NO ABATEMENT OF CAUSE OF ACTION UPON DEATH OF WRONGDOER—ACTION AGAINST PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE OF WRONGDOER—EVIDENCE REQUIRED. Causes of action arising out of physical injury to the person or death, caused by the wrongful act or negligence of another, shall not abate upon the death of the wrongdoer, and the injured person or the personal representatives or heirs of one meeting death, as above stated, shall have a cause of action against the personal representatives of the wrongdoer; provided, however, that the injured person or the personal representatives or heirs of one meeting death shall not recover judgment except upon some competent satisfactory evidence other than the testimony of said injured person.”

The jurisdictional statutes covering the appointment of administrators is Section 75-1-2 Utah Code Annotated, 1953 which reads as follows:

“75-1-2. WHERE WILLS PROVED, AND LETTERS GRANTED. Wills must be proved and letters testamentary or of administration granted:

- (1) If the decedent was a resident of the state, in the county in which he had his residence at the time of his death.
- (2) If the decedent was a nonresident of the state: first, in the county in which he may have

died leaving estate therein; second, in any county in which any part of the estate may be, the decedent not having left estate in the county in which he died, or having died without the state.

(3) In all other cases, in the county where application for letters is first made.”

What the Legislature intended, when a resident person is injured by a negligent non-resident deceased, is the basic question presented by this appeal.

The mechanics of just how this action is to be brought was not covered completely by the survival statute, Section 78-11-12, however, the Utah Law, as it has developed, makes unnecessary any additional provision. Section 75-1-2 had been on the books of the State of Utah for many years and has been the subject of numerous decisions concerning jurisdiction of the Probate Court.

A. THE PROBATE COURT HAS AUTHORITY TO APPOINT AN ADMINISTRATOR FOR THE PURPOSE OF ACQUIRING JURISDICTION OVER THE ESTATE SO THAT IT MAY BE PROPERLY ADMINISTERED.

This Court has, on two separate occasions, had before it contentions that the Probate Court did not have jurisdiction to appoint an administrator because there were no assets within the State. Both cases de-

cided that it was not necessary that there be property within the State of Utah in order to appoint an administrator for the deceased person. Both cases interpret Subsection 3 of Section 75-1-2 which reads as follows:

“(3) In all other cases, in the county where application for letters is first made.”
to mean that in cases where there is no property appointment can be made where application is first made.

The first case to discuss the matter was *In re Tasanen's Estate*, 25 Utah 396, 71 Pac. 984. In Tasanen's estate a non-resident of the State of Utah was suing a non-resident corporation which was doing business within the State. Utah Savings and Trust Company had been appointed the administrator of the estate of deceased non-resident. Objection was made upon the grounds there was no jurisdiction to make the appointment. It was claimed and conceded that the undisputed evidence disclosed that the deceased was not a resident of Weber County, State of Utah, and did not leave an estate within the State of Utah. The Diamond Coal & Coke Company which petitioned to set aside and vacate the order appointing Utah Savings and Trust Company as the administrator set forth as a basis that there was no estate or assets within Utah which could be administered and as a consequence that the District Court of Weber County was without jurisdiction to appoint an

administrator for the deceased Tasanen. The district court sustained the administrator and the Diamond Coal & Coke Company appealed. The Court set up the basic questions in the following language:

“The main questions to be decided in this case are: (1) Can the district court appoint an administrator of the estate of a nonresident deceased, where the only assets of said estate consist of a right of action against a resident of this state, or (2) in case there are no assets at all?

“Section 3774 of the Revised Statutes of Utah of 1898 reads as follows:

‘Wills must be proved and letters testamentary or of administration granted:

‘(1) If the decedent be a resident of the state, in the county in which he had his residence at the time of his death.

‘(2) If the decedent be a non-resident of the state: First, in the county in which he may have died leaving estate therein; second, in any county in which any part of the estate may be, the decedent not having left estate in the county in which he died, or having died without the state.

‘(3) In all other cases, in the county where application for letters is first made.’

"The authorities seem to be divided on the question of whether a claim for death by wrongful act is an asset of the estate of the deceased. We think the weight, however, leans to the side that it is. In view of the last paragraph of section 3774 we deem it is not necessary to follow either line, as the Legislature evidently had in mind cases in which the deceased was not a resident, nor did he leave property in this state. We think that the case at bar is covered by this provision of the statute. If there should be nothing which the administrator could legally do, it could harm nobody. If there should be something which an administrator ought to do, then the appointment would be necessary.

"We hold that the appointment of the respondent as administrator by the district court was correct, and the action of the lower court in refusing to set aside the appointment was correct, and it is hereby affirmed, with costs."

The language of the third sub-section of 75-1-2 is the same as the language interpreted in Tasanen Estate. It is submitted that the Tasanen decision is conclusive as to jurisdiction of the Probate Court to appoint an administrator.

Since Tasanen there has been one additional interpretation of the Section by the Court. It is *In re Lowham's Estate*, 30 Utah 436, 85 Pac. 445. The Court specifically affirmed the holding which it had made in the Tasanen decision. The language in the Lowham case is as follows:

“While a claim for damages for death by wrongful act is not a general asset of the estate under the foregoing provisions of the Wyoming statutes, we think it is a sufficient asset of the estate for the purpose of appointing an administrator. This court, in effect, so held in the case of *In re Estate of Tasanen*, 25 Utah 396, 71 Pac. 984. The doctrine declared in that case is not only in harmony with the great weight of authority, but is, we think, supported by the better reason. *Brown v. Railroad Co.*, 97 Ky. 228, 30 S.W. 639; *Findlay v. Railroad Co.*, 106 Mich. 700, 64 N.W. 732; *Hutchins v. Railroad Co.*, 44 Minn. 5, 46 N.W. 79; *Merkle v. Bennington* (Mich.) 35 N.W. 846; *Griswold v. Griswold* (Ala) 29 South. 437; *Railway Co. v. Reeves* (Ind.App.) 35 N.E. 199; *Robertson v. Railroad Co.*, (Wis.) 99 N.W. 433; *Morris v. Railroad Co.*, (Iowa) 23 N. W. 143; 11 A. & E. Ency Law (2d Ed.) 828. Having determined that a claim for damages for death by wrongful act, under the statutes of Wyoming, is at least a special asset of the estate, the next question presented is, can the right thus given by the Wyoming statute be enforced in this jurisdiction through the medium of an administrator appointed by the courts of this state? This question was squarely presented and decided by this court in the case of *Utah Sav. & Trust Co. vs. Diamond Coal & Coke Co.*, 26 Utah, 299, 73 Pac. 524.

“In view of the elaborate discussion of this branch of the case by appellant, in its brief, we have again given the subject careful consideration, and while there appears to be some conflict in the authorities on this question, the doctrine declared in the case of *Utah Sav. & Trust Co. v.*

Diamond Coal & Coke Co., supra, is upheld by the the decided weight of authority. *Morris v. Chicago R. I. & P. R. Co.* (Iowa) 23 N.W. 143; *Stewart v. B. & O. R. Co.*, 168 U.S. 447, 18 Sup. Ct. 105, 42 L. Ed. 537; *Dennick v. Railroad Co.*, 103 U. S. 11, 26 L. Ed. 439; *Boston & M. R. Co. v. Hurd*, 108 Fed. 116, 47 C. C. A. 615, 56 L. R. A. 193; *Louisville & N. R.R. v. Shivell's Adm'r* (Ky.) 18 S.W. 944; *Sargent v. Sargent* (Mass.) 47 N.E. 121. It being admitted that the proceedings leading up to the issuance of letters of administration to A. I. Stone were in accordance with the provisions of the statute regulating such proceedings, we are of the opinion, and so hold, that the District Court of Weber County had jurisdiction to issue said letters, and that it did not err in dismissing appellant's petition to have them revoked."

In Bancroft's Probate Practice, Volume 1, Chapter 2, Section 30 page 57 it states:

"The sole purpose of instituting probate proceedings may, however, be to obtain necessary authority to commence a suit to recover for the conversion of the only property of the estate, or a suit to set aside a conveyance made by the testator prior to his death. And where the sole property of a decedent is an equitable claim, the court may, in its discretion, treat this as property and grant letters of administration. There is some doubt, however, as to whether the existence of assets is jurisdictional. According to the better view, it is not; the question is one of property and for the exercise of a sound discretion upon the part of the court to which application is made. Whenever, at least, there is a possible right of

action as for wrongful death, or in respect of any claim or chose in action upon which a fair-minded attorney would advise a client to bring suit, it would seem that such circumstance alone, in the absence of some inhibiting statute, should be and is sufficient to warrant the assumption of jurisdiction and the issuance of letters."

Bancroft cites as authority for the statement just quoted the Utah cases which are cited above namely, *In re Lowham's Estate* and *In re Tasanen's Estate*.

The Lowham and Tasanen cases have been relied upon and accepted as sound authority. The Court, of course, is familiar with quiet title practice in the State where an administrator is appointed solely for the purpose of showing that there was no assets in the estate but that due to some transaction during the life of the deceased there was what appeared on record to be some kind of an interest in property. If the existence of property is necessary then in the quiet title action where title is quieted and there is no right in the estate the appointment of the administrator would, of course, be void and the action to quiet title of no effect.

This Court, on one occasion, pointed out that since the appointment of an administrator was largely an in rem action on the part of the Court that if there were no assets then there could be no harm done and no one would be hurt by the appointment. This particular aspect of the Utah Code and this Court's interpretation

was commented upon in the case of *In re Lamont's Estate*, 95 Utah 219, 79 P. 2d. 649, where the following language indicates the principal was set forth:

“The guardianship of a person having no estate would partake largely of personal elements; but the appointment of a guardian solely for the determination of the nature and quantum of an estate, like an administration of an estate, is an action in rem. *Barrette v. Whitney*, 36 Utah 574, 106 P. 522, 37 L.R.A., N.S., 368. *In re Estate of Tasanen*, 25 Utah 396, 71 P. 984.”

It is submitted that in the light of the *Tasanen*, *Lowham* and *Lamont* cases there can be no doubt about the jurisdiction of the Probate Court to appoint an administrator even though there did not appear to be assets in the estate.

B. THE EXERCISE OF SOUND DISCRETION ON THE PART OF THE PROBATE COURT REQUIRES THE APPOINTMENT OF AN ADMINISTRATOR OF THE ESTATE OF PHYLLIS ROSANDER LEIGH.

A recent development in the law of automobiles concerns the correlation of the Non-Resident Motorists Statute, 41-12-8 U.C.A. 1953, and the survival statutes, such as the provisions in Section 78-11-12, U.C.A. 1953.

An examination of the two legislative enactments would indicate that what was intended was complete coverage regardless of whether a person lived or died or was a resident or a non-resident of the State of Utah

if injury was caused within Utah by his negligence then the injured person would be entitled to recover within this State for such injuries.

The correlation of the two statutes has caused considerable concern in other states, but it is respectfully submitted, should not cause difficulty here. The cases cited in the preceding sub point would indicate that it is not necessary for a deceased person to have estate within the State of Utah in order for an administrator to be appointed.

It is respectfully submitted that the problem suggests itself to the practical sense of the Court to carry out the Legislative intention. Two decisions which have solved the practical problem of the appointment of the administrator and the bringing of an action in the State where the accident causing injury has occurred are *In re Vilas' Estate*, 166 Ore. 115, 110 P. 2d, 940, and *In re Fagin's Estate*,Iowa 66 N.W. 2d, 920.

The Iowa Supreme Court considered at length attempts by an administrator to bring before the court the facts that there was a policy of indemnity insurance and by whom the insurance policy had been issued. This difficulty with which the Iowa court was concerned has been eliminated in our case. There has been presented a copy of the indemnity agreement between the insur-

ance company and the deceased.

The Supreme Court of Iowa set forth in its decision the common sense and practical solution to the problem which is now before this court. The one basic fact that the Supreme Court of Iowa did not have before it was the contractual obligation on the part of the insurance company to defend the deceased or her estate in every State of the Union and to appear on her behalf and to hold her harmless against judgment which might be entered in any State of the Union. This particular fact it is submitted is of extreme importance and should be considered by the court in arriving at a fair and equitable decision. Even without that fact before it the Iowa court came to a conclusion that the administrator should be appointed within the State of Iowa and that legal actions could properly be commenced against him there where the accident had occurred.

Its decision and reasoning which is in several respects similar to the principles which have been set down by our Utah Supreme Court in the Tasanen estate case is as follows:

“(10) VII. Finally, it should be remembered that proceedings such as are involved here, seeking the appointment of administrators, are not adversary nor personal. They are special proceedings in rem. 33 C.J.S. Executors and Administrators, Sec. 50; 21 Am. Jur., Executors and Administrators, Sec. 12. The legality of the appointment is not dependent upon acquiring

personal jurisdiction of any non-resident by personal or substituted service.

“This is not an action against a non-resident such as might have been brought against Mr. Fagin had he survived the collision in which the Pilgers claim they were injured. Nor is it an action against the administrator of Mr. Fagin’s estate in Illinois. The Legislation assuming to make such actions possible is in no way involved here.

“The Iowa administrator has jurisdiction only of whatever property of the estate may be in Iowa. If it shall develop there is none, or that Pilger’s have no enforceable claims, decedent’s general estate represented by appellant will have suffered no loss. Nor will appellant and the estate he represents suffer any damage if the Pilger claims be established. Appellee (Iowa administrator) will have recourse only against the Iowa property, viz., whatever insurance coverage decedent carried on his automobile subject to such claims. No one claims any other property is threatened.

“In ultimate effect appellant is not the real party in interest. The real party is the insurance company and the real issue whether it must defend in Iowa where the collision occurred, or in decedent’s home jurisdiction where there is pending general administration on his estate.

“A consideration of the entire record convinces us the decision of the trial court must be affirmed and it is so ordered.”

This Court has clearly recognized that the right

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