1957

In the Matter of the Estate of Phyllis Rosander Leigh : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE INSURANCE COMPANY HAD THE RIGHT TO FILE THE PETITION TO REVOKE THE APPOINTMENT OF DAVID K. WATKISS AS ADMINISTRATOR OF THE ESTATE OF PHYLLIS ROSANDER LEIGH.

The first question requiring consideration is whether the insurance company has the right to file the Petition for Revocation of Letters of Administration issued to Watkiss.

Our statutes provide:

“Utah Code Annotated 1953, 75-1-8. Collateral attack prohibited: — An objection to any paper, petition, decree or order in any probate or guardianship matter, for an erroneous or defective statement or determination of any fact necessary to jurisdiction which actually existed, or for an omission to find or state

any such fact in such paper, petition, decree or order, is available only on direct application to the same court, or on appeal.”

“Utah Code Annotated 1953, 75-14-14. Any interested person has the right to be heard. Any person shall have a right to be heard by the court at any hearing on any question affecting a probate or guardianship matter in which he is interested.”

These statutes should be sufficient in support of the insurance company's right to file the petition. Petitioner is certainly an “interested party” in having determined whether at the demand of Watkiss it is obligated to defend the action, that is, whether Watkiss was properly appointed so as to entitle him to make the demand.

In the cases of *In re Tasanen*, 25 Utah 396, 71 P. 784 and *In re Lowham's Estate*, 30 Utah 436; 85 P. 445, there were petitions by the defendants to revoke the letters of administration theretofore granted by the court.

In *Bancroft Probate Practice*, Volume 2, Sec. 289, it is stated:

“Defective Appointment or Want of Jurisdiction. — To a certain extent, and whether or not the order of appointment is ‘void’ in the sense that it may be collaterally attacked, a petition to revoke letters is regarded as an alternative for an appeal from the order of appointment. Thus such a petition has been resorted to as a mode of attack upon a finding

of the court that the residence of the decedent was in the county in which letters were issued, and the attempt supported as a 'direct' attack.

As the New Mexico court observes, moreover, while the appointment of an administrator is a final judgment in the sense that it is appealable, it is in no sense a finality so far as the estate is concerned. If the court were precluded from a reinvestigation of the facts upon which letters were granted, the veriest imposter might obtain letters and, after the period for appeal has elapsed, remain securely in an office to which he has no right, with no court having power to remove him."

In the case of *Louisville v. Herb*, the court remarks:

"If he was not lawfully appointed, the petitioner has the right to show that fact, and thus defend itself from being harassed by a suit brought without authority of law, and from complications that may arise, should his letters of administration be revoked, *upon the application of someone interested in the estate of the decedent as a creditor, next of kin, or otherwise*. The right of a plaintiff to maintain an action in the capacity he sues, or to sue in a particular court or jurisdiction, may always be challenged by a defendant, although he may be liable for the wrong sought to be redressed in a suit brought in a proper court, by the proper party. This proceeding is the only manner in which the validity of letters of administration can be called into question."

POINT II.

THE CONTINGENT CLAIM AGAINST THE INSURANCE COMPANY DOES NOT CONSTITUTE AN ASSET SUBJECT TO ADMINISTRATION IN UTAH.

This question has been passed upon by a number of courts. In some states it is held that a contingent claim against an insurance company is not an asset of the insured's estate until the primary liability of the insured has been established by judgment against him. Furthermore, it is held that the situs of any such claim is at the domicile of the insured and that it has no situs in a foreign state.

In *Rogers v. Anderson* (Kan.) 190 P. 2 857, Rogers was a resident of North Carolina and never had been in Marshall County, Kansas. Edwards was a resident of Marshall County, Kansas and died from injuries sustained in a collision with a car driven by Rogers, operated within Saline County, Kansas. Rogers was killed in the war and his will probated in North Carolina. At the time of the collision, he had a policy issued by the American Indemnity Company. The probate court of Marshall County, Kansas, appointed one Crouse as administrator of the Kansas estate of Rogers. The Kansas statute provides:

“Proceedings for the probate of a will or the administration shall be had in the county of the residence of the decedent at the time of his death; if the decedent was not a resident

of this state, proceedings may be had in any county wherein he left any estate to be administered."

The opinion is very lengthy and the court discusses the question of what constitutes 'estate' and also the situs of intangible assets:

"Appellant, however, further asserts the policy, under the admitted facts, cannot constitute a present asset of the insured's estate anywhere. In support she cites our decisions holding an insurer, under the terms of this policy, is merely an indemnitor and as such can only be subjected to judgment on the policy after liability of the insured for damages has been finally determined. We have so held. A few of the cases are *Schoonover v. Clark*, 155 Kan. 835, 837, 130 P. 2 619; *Lang v. Underwriter's at Lloyd's*, 157 Kan. 314, 319, 139 P. 2 414; *Lechleitner v. Cummings*, 160 Kan. 453, 458, 163 P. 2 423, and cases therein cited. In other words, appellant states that prior to the occurrence of the condition precedent specified in the policy, the insured, if living, would have no cause of action against the insurer and a fortiori the policy does not now constitute an asset of the insured's estate left in Kansas to be administered.

"Assuming for the moment the administrator was properly appointed and assuming further that the situs of the policy was in Kansas, this question persistently intrudes — what estate did the policy contain or create for the administrator to administer in Kansas? At this time and at any time prior to judgment against the insured such adminis-

trator could not draw to the estate any asset provided by the policy. Assuming the administrator of the Edward's estate instituted an action against the administrator of Rogers' estate for the purpose of recovering damages resulting from the automobile collision, garnishment proceedings against the insurer would not lie prior to rendition of judgment or agreement of liability . . ."

After quoting other Kansas cases, the court proceeds:

"In the *Moore case*, supra, this court said:

"The principal administration to which all others are subordinate, is at the domicile of the intestate, and the universally recognized rule of law is that the succession to and distribution of personal estate is governed by the law of the place where the intestate was domiciled at the time of his death.

"The original administrator, therefore, with letters taken out at the place of the domicile, is invested with the title to all the personal property of the deceased, for the purpose of collecting the effects of the estate, paying the debts, and making distribution of the residue according to the law of the place or directions of the will, as the case may be." (Citations).

In the *Modern Woodmen case*, supra, this court stated:

"The fact that the beneficiary certificate sued on was in Douglas County was not of itself sufficient to empower the probate court

to appoint a guardian for the infants there. The instrument created a simple contract debt. The substantial property right adhered to the debt, rather than to the instrument evidencing it, and in legal estimation its situs followed the domicile of the owner. In *Moore, Admx. v. Jordan*, 36 Kan. 271, 13 P. 337, 59 Am. Rep. 550, it was held that a note and mortgage belonging to a man dying in Colorado, with the instruments in his possession there, were not assets in the hands of his widow as administratrix, appointed in Colorado, but belonged to an administrator appointed at the decedent's domicile in Illinois; and the doctrine is illustrated by numerous decisions cited in the opinion. Under the same principle, if the beneficiary certificate had its situs at the domicile of the owners in Missouri, it could not have been assets in the hands of a guardian appointed in Kansas, and hence could not have been the foundation of any order appointing such guardian.' Pages 137, 138 of 66 Kan., Page 281 of 71 P.

In the *Miller case*, supra, we find the following

'Was it the duty of the probate court to appoint an administrator on the application of a creditor of the decedent? Miller was a nonresident of Kansas, and the question is, Did he leave anything here on which to found administration? It has been held that:

'Where a person dies intestate, who was not a resident or inhabitant of the state at the time of his death, and who left no estate within the state to be administered, a probate court of the state has no jurisdiction to issue letters of administration on the estate

of such intestate, and, where letters are issued, the acts of the court in doing so are utterly null and void.' (Citations)".

See also *Olson v. Preferred Automobile Insurance Company*, (Mich.) 244 NW 178.

In *Wheat v. Fidelity and Casualty Company of New York*, (Colo.) 261 P. 2 493, the court made the same ruling as in the Kansas case, that such a contingent claim did not constitute an asset and that this was true even though the insurance company which issued the policy was doing business in the foreign state where it was claimed such contingent claim existed as an asset. In said case Wheat, driving a car going south, attempted to pass another car and collided headon with a car going north, driven by Leonard Wheat (no relation). Both Albert and Leonard were killed. Albert was a resident of Georgia and Leonard of Missouri. Plaintiffs were the surviving wife and minor daughter of Leonard Wheat. Albert carried liability insurance in defendant company. An administrator for his estate was appointed in Georgia and his only tangible asset was the damaged car which the administrator sold. Mrs. Leonard Wheat applied for letters of administration in the estate of Albert in Colorado, and the petition was denied. She then filed another petition, claiming to be a creditor of Albert, and one Delahay was appointed and Mrs. Leonard Wheat then filed

an action for damages against Delahay as administrator and he demanded of the insurance company that it defend. The insurance company then moved to vacate the order appointing Delahay on the ground of lack of jurisdiction because Albert J. Wheat was a non-resident of Colorado and left no property, real or personal, therein. The motion was denied and the insurance company secured certiorari and the District Court quashed the appointment of the administrator. On appeal, the court stated that the question for determination was:

“The trial court found that at the time of the appointment of Delahay as administrator, there was no property in Colorado, tangible or intangible, over which the county court had any jurisdiction or control. As hereinbefore stated, the wrecked automobile was the only tangible property in Colorado at the time of the accident, and when the duly appointed administrator of the estate of Albert J. Wheat in Georgia made disposition of the automobile, the purchasers took and can hold the same free from any lien of the claims of creditors, because he was the duly appointed representative of the heirs of the estate, and our statute so provides. As to the question of the indemnity policy here involved constituting an asset of the estate, we believe the following quotation from *Rogers v. Edwards*, 164 Kan. 492, 190 P. 2 857, 862, to be well reasoned and in point:

‘If the rights of the insured against the insurer, under an ordinary indemnity policy,

constitute assets of the nonresident insured's estate, prior to the establishment of liability of such estate to third persons, the situs of such assets is at the domicile of the nonresident. *The mere fact that a foreign insurance company which issued the policy is also authorized to transact business in Kansas does not change the situs of such asset*, if it be an asset prior to the establishment of the insured's liability, from the domicile of the nonresident to the state of Kansas.

'Of course, every state is, and should be, anxious to protect and convenience its own citizens so far as possible. No state is under duty to permit assets of debtors to be placed beyond the reach of its own creditors where it can legally retain such assets. But in order to retain them they must first exist here. To hold the policy in question has its situs in Kansas for purposes of administration would be contrary to the principle repeatedly enunciated in our prior decisions. In view of our firmly established and well understood doctrine, which we regard as sound, we do not desire to confuse it. A conclusion that this indemnity policy constitutes 'estate' left by the nonresident decedent to be administered in Marshall County would mean this policy constitutes 'estate' which may be administered in any county in Kansas and in any county of every other state of the union, with a similar statute, in which the insurer is authorized to transact business. We do not think the statute was intended to produce such a result.'

If this court follows the foregoing decisions, then it is apparent that in this case there are no

assets of the estate of Mrs. Leigh in Utah. However, we do not wish to withhold from the court what we have discovered with reference to the decisions of some other courts on this question and therefore call attention to cases of other jurisdictions which hold that such a contingent claim which, according to some authorities, has its situs only at the domicile of the creditor may, under certain circumstances, also constitute an asset where the debtor resides. In other words, these cases hold that the situs of the claim is not only at the insured's domicile but where the claim may be enforced. It is so held in Illinois under a statute which expressly provides that choses in action are located where the debtor resides, *Furst against Brady*, (Ill.) 31 NE2 606. However, in the case at bar the insurance company, if considered to be a debtor before judgment against the insured, does not reside in Utah.

Also the following cases hold that such a contingent claim is an asset in a foreign state: *Robinson v. John Dana's Estate*, (N. Hampshire) 174 Atl. 772; *Gordon v. Shea*, (Mass.) 14 NE2 105; *In re Vilas Estate*, (Ore.) 110 P. 2 940.

But in each of these cases the insurance company against which the claim was or was to be asserted, was doing business in the state where the administrator of the insured's estate was appointed.

As stated in the Robinson-Dana case:

“For the purpose of ownership, the creditor’s domicile is generally regarded determinative of the fictional locality of the debt. But since enforcement may be only where the debtor or his property is found, the debt must be owned by the creditor there as well as owed by the debtor. While as to ownership, “debts can have no locality separate from the parties to whom they are due” (*Cleveland, etc. Co. v. Pennsylvania*, 15 Wall. 300, 320, 21 L. ed. 179), in respect to enforcement, “It is useless to say that a chose in action follows the person of the creditor when the matter in hand is the enforcement of payment by a suit at law.” 11 Harv. Law Rev. 101. “For the purpose of collection a debt is always ambulatory, and accompanies the person of a debtor.” 5 RCL 931.”

In *Gordon v. Shea* the appointment of the administrator was approved because the insurance company against which the contingent claim existed was authorized to do business in Massachusetts, and in the *Vilas Estate* case it was held:

“Executors and administrators. Where insured under automobile liability policy, who was resident of Washington was killed in automobile collision in Oregon, in which occupant of other automobile was injured, *and insurer under policy was at time of accident and ever since such time authorized to do business in Oregon*, liability of insurer on policy was an “asset” of deceased motorist’s estate within meaning of statute, warranting appointment of administrator in Oregon, so that an action could be brought on claim of liability arising out of accident.”

If this court follows the decisions of the courts in Colorado, Kansas and Michigan it will hold that the contingent claim against the Farmers Mutual Automobile Insurance Company is not an asset in Utah; first because its situs is in Minnesota, the domicile of Mrs. Leigh, and second because it cannot be an asset until after judgment against the insured.

If the court follows the New Hampshire, Massachusetts, and Oregon cases it will likewise hold that the contingent claim does not constitute an asset in Utah of Mrs. Leigh's estate because the insurance company is not doing business in Utah and therefore the claim cannot be enforced in Utah, the courts having no jurisdiction over said company.

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